Conspiracy, 1963


Spring 63
In the spring of 1963 JFK "definitely and unequivocally" made decision to withdraw from South Vietnam.

[See Conspiracy, 4/25-26/66; 8/3/70.]

4/23/63
On 4/23/63, Vice President Lyndon Johnson made a round of appearances in Dallas [and] ... during the day's activities, Johnson spoke to 2,000 business and civic leaders ...  Included in Lyndon's remarks, according to p. 22 of The Times-Herald of 4/24, are the quoted paragraphs:

He said the President of the United States is like a pilot and the election is when the nation picks an airplane and a pilot for the next four years.  "Once you pick him, and you're flying across the water in bad weather, don't go up and open the door and try to knock him in the head.  He's the only pilot you have and if the plane goes down, you go with it.  At least wait until next [1964] November before you shoot him down."

11/63 was not a Presidential election year!  Did this man who had been an office holder for twenty-five years forget his election calendar?  Midlothian Mirror, Penn Jones, Jr., 3/5/70

Copy of story from Probe, 5-6/71, on planning of JFK visit to Dallas.  Earliest mention of 11/22 apparently 10/8/63 in headline of Dallas Times Herald.

Copy includes reproduction of Johnson remark about uniting until next November.

6/5/63
... The original conversations concerning President Kennedy's trip to Texas occurred on 6/5/63 at the Cortez Hotel in El Paso, TX.  President Kennedy had spoken earlier that day at the Air Force Academy and Vice President Johnson had spoken at Annapolis. The President and Vice President met with Governor Connally at the Cortez Hotel to discuss a number of matters, including a trip by the President to Texas.  Fred Korth and I were present when the three men assembled, but Fred Korth and I left during their discussion of the President's proposed trip.  The first tentative date was to have the trip coincide with Vice-President Johnson's birthday on 8/27, but that was rejected because it was too close to Labor Day. President Kennedy's other commitments prevented him from coming to Texas any sooner than 11/21, which was the date finally set."  Clifton C. Carter [Assistant to President Johnson, Affidavit, Warren Report 485, Hearings VII, p. 475
See Conspiracy, 4/23/63]  [3/5/70/70].

9/63
On 2/2/67 Miami police make public taped conversation, above, which gives details of a planned assassination of JFK; details similar to those in assassination but place not named.  Police say they turned information over to Secret Service before the assassination and again called their attention to it after the assassination.

For details and references, see Garrison, 2/3/67.

See Frame-Up, Weisberg. Appendix [p. 468-475] gives transcript of tape.  CD's on J. A. Milteer, p. 476-481.

9/13/63
Although publicity concerning the President's trip to Dallas appeared in Dallas newspapers as early as 9/13/63, the planning of the motorcade route was not started until after 11/4, when the Secret Service was first notified of the trip.  A final decision as to the route could not have been reached until 11/14, when the Trade Mart was selected as the luncheon site.  Although news reports on 11/15 and 11/16 might have led a person to believe that the motorcade would pass the Depository Building, the route was not finally selected until 11/18; it was announced in the press on 11/19, only 3 days before the President's arrival.

See Conspiracy, 4/23/63 [3/5/70].

9/26/63
Kennedy To Visit Texas Nov. 21-22

Jackson Hole, WY - White House sources told the Dallas News exclusively Wednesday night [9/25] that President Kennedy will visit Texas 11/21 and 11/22. ...  The final White House decision to make the trip to Texas came late Tuesday night, these sources said.  Although specific details have not been worked out, it was considered likely that the President will visit Dallas, Houston, San Antonio and Fort Worth. ...

[Dallas Times-Herald, 9/13, mentions projected JFK visit to Dallas, no date given; CE 1366. Times-Herald and Dallas Morning News, both of 11/19, give details of motorcade route through Dallas - Main, Houston, Elm, Stemmons; CE 1362, 1363.]  Warren Report, pp. 245-247

See Conspiracy, 6/5/63.

10/63
From story on "doomsday clock" on cover of the Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists: "In 10/63, the nuclear test ban treaty moved the hands back to 12 minutes before midnight - the farthest from doom ever."  San Francisco Examiner/UPI [3/24/69]

10/30/63
Investigation by Secret Service of threats to JFK, two involving his trip to Dallas, the third giving no details on time or place.  In the third case, Secret Service report says subject was interviewed by FBI 11/14/63, with no indication where this was done; subject reported to have told FBI he was a member of the KKK and that assassination attempt would be made by "militant group of National States Rights Party".  Is reported to have told FBI he did not believe this was planned for the near future but that he did believe the attempt would be made.

Secret Service reports turned over to Warren Commission involve various Texas cities, do not include any report from Miami.  See stories on information from police informer, Miami, on plans to assassinate JFK; details similar to those in assassination but place not named.  Informer cooperated with police in obtaining tape of conversation on this with man described by Miami News as an organizer of the States Rights Party.  Conversation took place 11/9/63.  Miami police said they turned information over to Secret Service before the assassination and again called their attention to it after the assassination.  AP reports story-by Bill Barry in Miami News says the man in question was picked up by the FBI five days after the assassination and questioned.  Barry says man has since disappeared.  See Garrison file, 2/3/67.

[10/30/63] CE 762, Hearings, XVII, pp.  539, 640  [11/15/63] CE 762, Hearings XVII, p. 566

11/22/63
"Congressional investigators have received information that on the day President Kennedy was killed, the [CIA] was making arrangements in Paris for a plot to assassinate [Castro], according to informed sources.

"The coincidence in timing becomes all the more bizarre in light of Castro's own account of what he was doing when Kennedy was killed.  According to the Cuban premier, he was in Varadero, Cuba, that afternoon listening to an intermediary - a French journalist named Jean Daniel - talk about Kennedy's apparent interest in re-establishing contact between the two nations.

"Daniel had just spoken with Kennedy in Washington, Castro related in the recently published book, With Fidel.  [Author not given.] 'In my opinion,' Castro said, 'this was a definite gesture on Kennedy's party [sic] to try to establish contact, an exchange with us.'  Washington Post, George Lardner, Jr.  [7/22/75]

11/9/63
Unidentified man, taped by Miami, police informer this date, says JFK "a marked man."

11/22/63
[bulletin matter 2nd add to original bulletin] Dallas – [Jack] Bell said a man and a woman were scrambling on the upper level of a walkway overlooking the underpass.  AP 12:49 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas - [Sen. Ralph Yarborough] ... said he was in the third car behind the President.  "It seemed to me that at least two of the shots came from our right rear," he said.  I cannot say about the third."

In a later story filed at 1:50 p.m.:

Yarborough had counted three rifle shots as the Presidential limousine left downtown Dallas through a triple underpass.  The shots were fired from above - possibly from one of the bridges or from a nearby building.

One witness, television reporter Mal Couch, said he saw a gun emerge from an upper story of a warehouse commanding an unobstructed view of the Presidential car.  AP, 1:37 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas - A Secret Service agent and a Dallas policeman were shot and killed today some distance from the area where President Kennedy was assassinated.

No other information was immediately available. AP, 2:14 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Washington - No Secret Servicemen were injured in the attack on President Kennedy, a top Treasury official said today.

Robert A. Wallace, assistant secretary of the Treasury under which the Secret Service operates, said the service had received a report that a Dallas policeman had been killed by the fusillade from an assassin.  "I believe this report is correct," Wallace said.

It had been reported from Dallas that a policeman and a Secret Service man had been shot and killed some distance from the scene of the attack on Kennedy.  AP, 4:33 p.m. EST

11/22/63
Dallas - 5th add 4th lead - Dallas motorcycle officers, ranged around the cavalcade, took off across a field in the direction from which the murderer apparently had fired.

One officer raced to the foot of a nearby railroad embankment and climbed to the tracks above, gun in hand.  AP, 2:16 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Ft. Worth - Soon after President Kennedy was assassinated today in Dallas, a white man in his mid 20s was arrested in the Riverside section of Ft. Worth in the shooting of a Dallas policeman.

The man, who has black curly hair and who wore a red shirt, denied that he was connected wail the assassination of the President.

His hands were handcuffed and he was taken to the Ft. Worth city jail. AP, 2:18 p.m. CST

[See chronological file, 9/29 and 9/30/64, AP and UPI accounts in Chronicle and News Call Bulletin in substantially same wording, about the mistaken arrest of a Strawn, TX, man, Donald Wayne House, and his being held 4 hours in Ft. Worth jail.]

11/22/63
Dallas – [Editor’s note: Jack Bell was in the fourth car behind President Kennedy's.]

There was a loud bang as though a giant firecracker had exploded in the caverns between the tall buildings we were just leaving behind us.

In quick succession there were two other loud reports.

Our driver braked the car sharply and we swung the doors open to leap out.  Suddenly the procession, which had halted, shot forward again.

In the flash of that instant a little tableau was enacted in front of a colonnade toward which the velvety green grass swelled upward to a small park near the top of an underpass for which we had been headed.

A man was pushing a woman dressed in a bright orange to the ground and seemed to be plunging protectively over her.  A photographer, scrambling on all fours toward the crest of the rise, held a lenses camera trained in their direction.  AP, Jack Bell, 5:02 p.m. CST  [Excerpted from AP office file]

11/22/63
Dallas - Within a few hours [of the assassination] several suspects were picked up and held without charge for questioning.  None was established as the killer.  AP, 5:36 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Pierce Allman, Dallas television executive [WFAA?], who was standing at intersection of Elm and Houston, gives graphic description of assassination "a few hours later."  Says JFK hit by first and third shots.

Allman was not called to testify by Commission.  BBC tape, The Day the President Died, On tape at 250'
11/22/63
Dallas - The Dallas police department today arrested a 24-year-old man, Lee H. Oswald, in connection with the slaying of a Dallas policeman shortly after President Kennedy was assassinated.

He was also being interrogated to see if he had any connection with the slaying of the President.

Oswald was pulled screaming and yelling from the Texas Theater in the Oak Cliff section of Dallas.

He brandished a pistol which officers took away from him after a scuffle 
 The officer who was slain, J. D. Tippet, had been killed by a man answering the description of Oswald in the neighborhood a short time before.  Tippet had been slain with a pistol.  AP, 2:37 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Dallas - Police sirens rent the air within minutes after Kennedy was shot as officers began their search for the assassin.  Guns drawn, uniformed police raced first toward a railroad embankment where they thought the rifle-wielder was hiding.  AP, 5:36 p.m. CST

11/22/63
Interview at 12.45 p.m. of motorcycle policeman J. M. Chaney.  "On the first shot we thought it was a motorcycle backfire.  I looked to my left and so did President Kennedy, looking back over his left shoulder, and when the second shot struck him in the face then we knew someone was shooting at the President.

"Q: When you saw the bullet hit him, what did he do?

"A: He slumped forward in the car.  He fell forward in the seat there.

"Q: Did you see where the bullet came from or did you see the man with the gun?

"A: No, all I knew it came over my right shoulder."  KLIF tape, The Fateful Hours, On tape, side I, 206 feet

11/23/63
Washington - No Secret Service men were killed or injured in the attack on President Kennedy or in a series of arrests that followed, a top Treasury official said yesterday.

Robert A. Wallace, Assistant Secretary of the Treasury under which the Secret Service operates, is in charge of Secret Service policy.  San Francisco Examiner, AP

11/23/63
Dallas - As a city wide manhunt began, during the hour following the assassination, an unidentified man notified police headquarters, over a police car radio, that the car's officer had been shot and killed.  The car was in the 400 block of East Jefferson Boulevard. In the Oak Cliff section, on the edge of the downtown area.

The car's driver, Patrolman Tippit, had not made any call that he was going to question anyone.

Eight other officers converged on the spot.  They found Patrolman Tippit lying on the sidewalk, dead from two .38 caliber wounds.  New York Times, Gladwin Hill

11/23/63
Dallas – [immediately after the shooting]

There was pandemonium.  Police ran up a nearby grass hill in the general direction from which the shots were fired.  Chronicle, AP, UPI, Final Home Edition, 2-Star

11/23/63
Dallas, [11/22] - As Mr. Kennedy slumped in his seat, the accompanying policemen and Secret Service agents suddenly had automatic rifles and pistols in their hands.  They were apparently caught off guard by the swiftness of the attack.

Several policemen ran to a grassy knoll and into a nearby park behind the Kennedy entourage.  New York Times
11/23/63
Dallas - Curry also said police never had Oswald listed on their suspicious list.  "We have another man working in that same building who has been listed in our subversive files since 1955," Curry said.  Police were seeking this man for questioning.  News CB, p. 2, UPI and AP
11/23/63
Dallas – [Homicide Captain Will] Fritz said an employee of the School Book Depository voluntarily came to the police station this morning and following a conference with officers, left.  He identified the employee as Jose Rodriguez Molina.

Late tonight, a police captain emphasized there was no other suspect than Oswald nor were there warrants out for anyone else in the case.  AP
11/24/63
One new individual entered the case prominently today.  Chief Curry announced that officers were questioning Jose Rodriguez Molinas, a bookkeeper employed at the same establishment as Oswald.  Mr. Molinas was said to have some left-wing connections.  However he was reported to have denied any more than a nodding acquaintance with Oswald during the few weeks that Oswald had been employed at the warehouse.  New York Times, Gladwin Hill

11/23/63
Dallas -- Main story on assassination.

An arrogant renegade who once wanted to trade his country for the Soviet Union is charged with murder in the ambush slaying of President John F. Kennedy.

Less than 12 hours after Kennedy was cut down in his ceremonial limousine by rifle bullets fired by a sniper, charges were filed last night against 24-year,old Lee Harvey Oswald, who professed love for Russia and once tried to renounce his American citizenship.

District Attorney Henry Wade of Dallas was asked if authorities were looking for anyone else in connection with the world-stunning murder.

"There is no one else but him," Wake said.

... [7 paragraphs down]  They key factor that led to Oswald's arrest at 2 p.m. yesterday -- an hour after the President's death – was the apparently senseless killing of a Dallas policeman.  AP, 4:21 a.m. CST, Frank Cormier

11/23/63
Dallas – The police chief said he thinks Sgt. J. D. Tippit, the officer who was slain, stopped Oswald on the basis of the broadcast description.

Oswald was on foot, Curry said, and as the sergeant got out of the car and was walking around the back of it, Oswald started shooting.

"We think he thought Tippit knew he was involved in Kennedy's assassination and just started shooting," Curry said.

Curry said a citizen alerted policemen on the dead sergeant's prowl car radio.  A search for the assailant soon led to the Texas Theater.  AP, 11:17 a.m. CST, Peggy Simpson

11/23/63
Dallas - A second man was questioned today about the assassination of President Kennedy.  Police described him as a known subversive believed to be a friend of Lee Harvey Oswald.  …

Curry said ... the second man questioned worked in the same place as Oswald, the Texas School Book Depository ..  AP, Peggy Simpson, 1:50 p.m. CST

11/23/63
Dallas - Police arrested a second man today and questioned him at length about the shooting of President Kennedy.  He is believed a friend of Oswald.  …

The second man arrested was not immediately identified by police or others.

Justice of the Peace David Johnson said he issued a search warrant early today for the second man's home, but the man allowed a search without protest.  AP, Peggy Simpson, 2nd lead, for 1:50 p.m. story

11/23/63
Query to Dallas from Columbus via Kansas City: Member asks if police know where chicken found in sniper's perch came from.  Asks if linked to Oswald [i.e. did his housekeeper prepare for him].  AP, 7:18 p.m. CST

11/23/63
Message to Columbus from Dallas: Re chicken: Police captain says it has been determined that Oswald did not eat the chicken.  It had been brought to the building by another employee who is not in any way connected with the slaying.  AP, 9:40 p.m. CST

11/23/63
Castro deals with recent news stories about Miami meeting of Inter-American Press Association, at which President Kennedy spoke 11/18/63.  In transcription paraphrase, Castro said President Kennedy's speech was disappointing to Cuban counter-revolutionaries and to ultra-right in the U.S., who were hoping for strong measures against Cuba.  …

"Then Fidel said there is a strange sentence in this report made three days before the assassination, and noted that on 11/19 AP cable said [quoting unnamed individual, by inference the head of the Executive Council of the Inter-American Press Association], "I believe that a serious event soon to take place will oblige Washington to modify its present policy of peaceful co-existence.'" From transcription made by unknown monitor of Cuban radio broadcast of speech by Fidel Castro, this date.

11/24/63
Recap of first news agency bulletins on assassination day.

Some of the Secret Service agents through the gunfire was from an automatic weapon fired to the right rear of the Chief Executives car, probably from the grassy knoll to which motorcycle policemen directed their attention as they raced up the slope. UPI A20N DA/JT 1256PCS

Urgent - The President was shot once in the head.  Connally was hit in the head and wrist.

Police found a foreign-make rifle.  Sheriff’s officers were questioning a young man picked up at the scene. UPI A65N DA/JT141PCS  San Francisco Chronicle

11/24/63
Washington - Foreign policy officials reacted with shock and dismay today to the shooting of the accused assassin of President Kennedy.

With the eyes of the world focused on the United States as a result of the assassination of the President, they had hoped the arrest and trial at the alleged killer would demonstrate the order, fairness and justice which the United States has presented to others as a major virtue in its democratic system.

Also, there were fears that should the accused assassin, Lee Harvey Oswald, die, suspicion and allegations that might otherwise be set to rest by his formal trial would linger on.  AP, 12:46 p.m. CST

12/24/63
2nd add 2nd  lead Oswald shooting.

Dallas - … “we have witnesses who saw Oswald shoot the patrolman [Tippt]" Curry said.  AP, 1:03 p.m. CST

11/25/63
Dallas - The first reaction of Dallas police to Oswald's murder was to mark the assassination case closed, and concentrate on trying to convict Ruby.  News CB, p. 1, AP
11/25/63
Dallas - Prior to Oswald's death, authorities said there was certain strong evidence not going to be released.  Wade declined to divulge this evidence even after the alleged assassin died.  News CB, p. 6; [AP]

11/25/63
New York – 

Reporter "Did you say the gun was mailed to a post office box in Dallas in March?"

Wade "March of this year."

Reporter: "Was he living in Dallas then?"

Wade: "Yes.  I presume he was.  He got it here."

Reporter: "I see."

Reporter "Previously he lived in New Orleans."

Reporter: "He said he'd only been here two months."

Reporter: "Mr. Wade ... "

Wade "He came to Ft. Worth sometime in the fall of '62.  And then moved here a while, and apparently went to New Orleans for a while and came back.  And when the period to that is, I'm not sure."

[Oswald apparently in Dallas (working, though perhaps living in Ft. Worth) between late 1962 and 4/63.  See Life, Memorial Edition.]  AP report of press conference by Henry Wade

11/25/63
Dallas - An armored car was obtained to move Oswald from the police station to county jail because of an anonymous threat on his life, Captain Glenn King said today.  The anonymous message - "Oswald will never get to the county jail alive" - was relayed by the FBI in Washington, D.C. to Dallas law officers early yesterday morning.  …  The FBI did not say if the call they received was from a man or a woman.  AP

12/1/63
… At 2:15 a.m. Sunday [11/24] the FBI received an anonymous phone call.  A voice said Oswald would be shot Sunday morning.  The FBI relayed the information to Dallas police.  Long Beach Independent-Press Telegram, Thee Days in Dallas, Bill Hunter

11/25/63
Text of Mrs. Ngo Dinh Nhu's letter to Mrs. Kennedy.  Also reprinted in Assassination of a President, New York Times, published by The Viking Press, New York Times
See Conspiracy, 6/25/64.  New York Times, Max Frankel

11/26/63
Dallas, [11/26] - A Police Department spokesman said today no evidence had been found that Ruby had had previous contact with the 24-year-old warehouse clerk.  Ruby's chief lawyer, Tom Howard, said: "I am absolutely
in my own mind that there never had been any contact between the two."  New York Times - Gladwin Hill

11/26/63
Dallas -- Ruby indicted.

... He carried a .38 caliber revolver, the lawyer [Tom Howard] contended, because he often carried one while transporting large amounts of money.  On Sunday morning, the lawyer said, Ruby had several thousand dollars in his car.  New York Times, Gladwin Hill

[On Sunday, with no banks open?]

[A payoff? If so, to Ruby, or by Ruby to someone else?]

11/27/63
No more fitting description for the city of Dallas could be set forth than as follows:

Here lies a city where President Kennedy was assassinated.  Here lies a city where before the assassination some of its members proudly placed on their cars the letters KKK, standing for Kill Kennedy Klan, and other insulting stickers. ...  Here lies a city where some of its citizens openly stated they would like to kill the President of the United States.  …  New York Times, Letter to the Editor signed Joseph A. Devany, Dallas, [12/7/63]

11/27/63
Dallas - In story on controversy whether one gunman could have fired three shots so quickly, various opinions are quoted and projected against a 15-second film strip which shows some of the action both before and after the series of shots.  Paraphrase:

Dr. Kemp Clark, Parkland Hospital brain surgeon who worked on JFK, said the bullet hole in the right rear of the President's head had done such massive damage that physicians could not tell whether it had entered or come out of the head at that point.

Dr. Clark said again yesterday that he was unable to say whether the wound in the President's neck below the Adam’s apple was due to the same bullet which had coursed through the President's brain.  He said there could have been two bullets.  San Francisco Chronicle, AP and UPI

11/27/63
New York - The Italian newspaper, Corriere Lombardo of Milan, said yesterday that if the Model 38 were used and that if more than one shot were fired "there must have been a second attacker."

In France, the Paris Jour said that a non-automatic rifle could not have been used to fire two bullets into President Kennedy and one into Governor John B. Connally, Jr. of Texas.

In Vienna, the Olympics champion shot, Hubert Hammerer said that the initial shot could have been made under the conditions in Dallas when Mr. Kennedy was killed.  But he considered it unlikely that one man could have triggered three shots within five seconds with the weapon used, according to Reuters.  New York Times, Oscar Godbout

11/28/63
Paris - Paris-Presse reported yesterday that an amateur photographer's 8-mm color film taken just ten minutes before the assassination of President Kennedy showed two silhouettes at the sixth-floor window where the assassin's bullets are believed to have been fired.

The dispatch, from the newspaper's correspondent in Dallas, J. P. Renard, said that the FBI has viewed the hitherto undisclosed film strip - reportedly taken by an American sailor - and is now convinced that Lee Harvey Oswald had an accomplice.

The dispatch also said that a study of remains of food left in the/room shows the accomplice had apparently been in there the day before.

A thorough check of authoritative sources in Washington convinced newsmen that the FBI possesses no such film, and that the Paris-Presse story is untrue.  The FBI itself declined to comment at all on its investigation of the assassination.

The Paris-Presse story said it was believed that an accomplice helped steady the assassin's rifle, and that Oswald covered the accomplice's escape by killing Police Officer J. D. Tippit.

Correspondent Renard said a witness to the Tippit shooting told him that he saw two men - not one - running away as Tippit collapsed in the street.  Chronicle, Times-Post Service
11/29/63
Miami, FL - Fidel Castro has cited "strange circumstances" in Lee Oswald's reported assassination of President Kennedy, and cast doubt on Oswald's guilt.

... Furthermore, Castro said, it is strange that a person would try to attempt such an assassination "from the place where he worked, where within five minutes he would be pursued on all sides."

Instead, the Prime Minister suggested, "He would have sought another roof, another building.  He would have been situated with a telescopic rifle at a distance that would permit him to escape.  This thing doesn't make sense." San Francisco Chronicle
11/29/63
Dallas - "Oswald came in running like the dickens," recalls Earlene Roberts, 68, the housekeeper.

"He got a tan coat and ran out," she said.

… Witnesses ... said Tippit stopped a bushy-haired man about 30, wearing a white cotton jacket rather than a "tan coat.  This didn't sound like Oswald, but several witnesses later confirmed he was the man.

"All of a sudden they stopped, looked at each other, and he [the other man] pulled out his gun and shot the officer," said Helen Markham, who was waiting for a bus.

The man in the white shirt raced away [Oswald, when produced after his capture by police, was wearing a plaid shirt over a white T-shirt and dungarees.]  Chronicle, Chicago Daily News, M.W. Newman and Henry Hanson

11/30/63
Dallas, [11/29] - A postal inspector, Harry Holmes, said Oswald rented a post office box in his own name in Dallas on 10/9/62.

On 3/20/63, a gun from a mail order house in Chicago was delivered to the box.  It was addressed to A. Hidell, a name authorities said Oswald had used as an alien. [alias?]

This was the gun the Federal Bureau of Investigation said was used to kill President Kennedy.

On 5/10, Oswald had the box order transferred to New Orleans, where he lived until late September.

On 11/2, after he had returned to Dallas, Oswald rented another box in his own name.

He also listed as organization names the Fair Play for Cuba Committee and the American Civil Liberties Union.  He listed A. Hidell as authorized to receive mail through the box.

Both organizations said Oswald had not represented them in any capacity.

Mr. Holmes said no person other than Oswald was authorized to receive mail through the first box he rented, but this did not prevent him from ordering a gun through an alias.

"This is for the protection of the box holder," Mrs. Holmes said.  "If a package comes to a person not authorized to receive mail, the box holder can refuse it."

Another postal inspector, Ralph Thomas, said no references were required for persons renting post office boxes.  He also said no identification was required.

Mr. Holmes said Oswald had received Soviet newspapers and first class mail through the box, but there was no record of any packages other than the rifle.

He said the box was still listed in Oswald's name at the time of the assassination.  Special to New York Times

11/30/63
New York - News stories here said the FBI was checking a report that Oswald in later years was a close friend of an extreme right-winger, a Mississipian who lived at one time in New York City's Greenwich Village.

The FBI refused to confirm or deny the report, but several villagers confirmed that agents had questioned them in an effort to learn the whereabouts of the rightist.

The sources could not confirm a report that the FBI was acting on a tip by an informant that he, Oswald and the Mississipian had served together in the Marines.  AP

11/30/63
Dallas - Could one man have fired three bullets that rapidly from the bolt-action rifle - in other words, did another man stand beside accused Oswald and fire with him?

District Attorney Henry Wade, who like other officers has said repeatedly that Oswald killed the President, also repeatedly has said: "We have no concrete evidence that anyone assisted him in this ... "  AP, Robert E. Ford

12/1/63
Within minutes of Ruby's execution of Oswald before the eyes of millions watching television, at least two Dallas attorneys appeared to talk with him.

"He didn't tell us anything," one of the attorneys told the press after the first brief meeting.  "He just listened.  He paid for advice."

Sunday afternoon, police and federal officers investigated reports that Ruby and Oswald had been acquainted.  Ruby denied the reports and claimed he had seen Oswald for the first time on a televised press conference …

As reports persisted that Oswald was seen in Ruby's Vegas Club, Dallas police tried to squelch the reports with statements that in their opinion Oswald was the assassin, that he was without confederates and that he and Ruby were not acquainted. Long Beach Independent- Press Telegram, Three Days in Dallas, Bill Hunter
12/1/63
Dallas, [11/30] - Possibly [Oswald] hitch-hiked to Laredo and Mexico City from New Orleans in September, but on the way back he stopped in Alice, TX, to seek employment at a radio station.  The manager said he was driving a car then. New York Times, Donald Janson

See Warren Report, p. 666, paragraph 2.
12/1/63
Feature story on Texas, the comments ranging from "an area of extreme neighborliness, warm welcomes, genuine concern for the well being of a traveler when he stops at a filling station", to "the gun sometimes provides, for Texans, the swift and simple solution."

... Reflecting on the incredible nightmare that unfolded not somewhere else, but in Texas, the world cannot help wondering what sort of place Texas is and what sort of people come from its soil and whether "frontier justice" remains a hallmark even in this day and age.

... If Texans today are wont to disown Jack Ruby, the Chicago-born night club owner, his act of gunning down a man he may have believed had it coming was not untypical of many a native son. ... Texans, by nature, seek the direct solution.

... The blood redemption militants in the area are a small minority but, as with the state as a whole, they can be influential.

... The militant conservatism of Dallas, latent for decades, began about three years ago to bubble violently.

The first major instance was when Lyndon B. Johnson, then U.S. Senator, visited Dallas with his wife on a campaign trip in 1960 and met with abuse and jeers from a group egged on by placard-toting girls in red, white and blue uniforms, and by U.S. Rep. Bruce Alger, R-TX.

The disease continued to feed upon itself, and when UN Ambassador Adlai Stevenson spoke here last October he was hooted, heckled, spat upon and hit with a placard.  The same group present at the Stevenson incident - the National Indignation Convention - had indignantly catcalled and booed wildly at a rally the night before with every mention of John F. Kennedy's name.

… The day President Kennedy came to town, however, there was none of this.  Dallasites instead were giving him the sort of warm, open, enthusiastic welcome which, indeed, is far more typical of the city and the state.  AP, Jules Loh, Texas and Its Conscience

12/1/63
List of elements both in USA and abroad who might think they had self-interest in an end the policies of the Kennedy administration; not necessarily in order of probability:

Domestic:  Military-Industrial Complex mentioned in Eisenhower farewell address who might think easing of cold War might threaten their welfare.

Dallas right wingers, including such well-known persons as Major General Walker, H. L. Hunt, etc.

Other right wingers, including Birchers, Minutemen, diehard segregationists, southern Protestant extremists.

Minor but disaffected Catholic elements who considered JFK traitor to their cause.

Cuban refugee groups, including those with military training.  

Individuals in various branches of government including CIA, FBI etc who feel threatened by easing of tensions.

The so-called China lobby.

Abroad:
Stalinists, meaning out-of-power communists both in Russia and elsewhere in world.

West German government and remnants of Nazism who see future in hostility with Russia.

Chinese communist extremists, because of their violent opposition to Khrushchev's program of easing tensions.

Trotskyite remnants-anywhere, assuming they find in their opposition to Khrushchev a community of interest with the Stalinists and extreme Chinese communists.

Nationalist Chinese

12/1/63
Dallas. [11/30] - If [Oswald] were working for others, would they not have provided him with much better equipment than the $12.78 gun he got from a Chicago mail order house?

… It is difficult to imagine that any foreign government would employ a man of Oswald's uncertain tendencies and limited education and abilities as an agent to assassinate the President of the United States even if a foreign power might have that aim.

More conceivable, perhaps, is that an extremist group in this country might seek the death of Mr. Kennedy.  But there is no evidence yet revealed that provides more than the most tenuous links between Oswald and extremist groups.

He corresponded with the Communist Party of the U.S.A. for information.  He played a lonely role with the Fair Play for Cuba Committee.  He read The Worker.  He subscribed to The Militant, a Trotskyite publication.  But he also checked out library books critical of Communism, along with books on President Kennedy and the assassination of Huey Long.  New York Times, Donald Janson

12/2/63
Dallas - An AP photograph of President Kennedy's shooting ... seemed to show a man resembling his accused assassin, Lee Harvey Oswald, standing at ground level behind the motorcade.  … The picture ... seems to show a man peering from the entrance of the building at the moment the President was shot.  …  If the man in the picture actually had been Oswald, it would seem to prove that he was not the Kennedy assassin because he would not have had time to reach the entrance.

However, R. S. Truly, superintendent of the ... building, identified the man in the picture as Billy Lovelady, another employee. Truly declared:

"At first glance this does look like Oswald.  But after looking it over I knew it wasn't.  They don't even look alike.  I showed the photograph to Lovelady, who said 'Yes, that's me.'"

The FBI said it also had investigated the photograph and that the man shown in the building entrance is not Oswald.  AP, 7:00 p.m. CST

See Chronological, 5/24/64; 

[Lovelady said again yesterday through his employer that it was he and not Oswald who appears in the picture.)

12/3/63
Ft. Worth - Mrs. Marguerite Oswald ... yesterday charged that the FBI had shown her a picture of Jack Ruby the night before Ruby killed her son.

The FBI denied the claim, saying it was the picture of another man who was not identified.

Mrs. Oswald gave this account of how the FBI showed her the picture she claimed to be of Ruby:

She said that at 6:30 p.m. 11/23, an FBI agent with another man knocked on the door where she and her daughter-in-law were staying.

She stated the agent said to her, "Mrs. Oswald, I would like to ask you a question."

"He had a picture cupped inside his hand and asked me if I had ever seen that man before," she said.  "I told him 'No sir, believe me, I never have.' Then he left.

"A few days later, I walked into the room where I was staying and in front of my son Robert and a lot of witnesses, I picked up a paper and when I turned it over I said 'This is the picture of the man that the FBI agent showed me.'

"I did not even know at the time that he was the man who shot my son.  I was told that the picture was Mr. Jack Ruby."  San Francisco Examiner, AP and Hearst Headline Service
12/3/63
Washington – [paraphrase] Sterling F. Green, in story naming no source says exhaustive FBI report now nearly ready will show Oswald was the lone and unaided assassin.  Evidence lacking of any personal acquaintance between him and Ruby.  All three shots were fired from the same weapon; the first and third hit the President, either could have killed him.  The second hit Connally.  There were 5½ seconds between the first and third shots but agents consider he [?] could have aimed and fired that fast.  The target was moving approximately in the direction of the line of fire.  AP
12/3/63
Perhaps the earlier effort to summarize the JFK record following the assassination.  Lists his great accomplishments:

1. Re-establishment of civilian control over the military; intemperate speech-making of the generals was curbed, their associations with the radical right were blocked.

2. Rehabilitation of intellectuality. JFK surrounded himself with intellectuals and used them.

3. The Peace Corps ... put the best of the American Spirit to work, not only as an instrument of foreign policy but as a useful servant to humanity ... it is potentially radical and revolutionary. ...
4. Movement toward détente with the Soviet Union, symbolized by the nuclear test; ban agreement.  KPFA, Berkeley, Marshall Windmiller
12/4/63
Dallas , [12/3] - Further evidence - which also tends to discount the notion of another assassin - shows that all' three bullets came from the same rifle.  This was the 6.55-mm Mannlicher-Carcano that Oswald ordered last spring from a mail-order store and that bore his finger and palm prints after the assassination.

The ballistics evidence was developed during a test on the weapon at the Federal Bureau of Investigation Laboratory in Washington.  The result of the test was announced two days after the assassination on the day Oswald was slain by a Dallas citizen.  New York Times
12/6/63
A Dallas clothing manufacturer had found a point of vantage on a slight slope along the route of the Kennedy motorcade to take pictures … it is from his film that these pictures are taken.  Life, Memorial Edition

12/6/63
Since by this time the limousine was 50 yards past Oswald and the President's back was turned almost completely to the sniper, it has been hard to understand how the bullet could enter the front of his throat.  Hence the recurring guess that there was a second sniper somewhere else.  But the 8-mm film shows the President turning his body around to the right as he waves to someone in the crowd.  His throat is exposed - towards the sniper's nest - just before he clutches it ... Life: End to Nagging Rumors, Paul Mandel

12/6/63
No.  The rumors include a mysterious Cuban named "Scentor"; an unidentified millionaire right-winger; Oswald's killer, Jack Ruby; and Oswald's wife.  So far the police and federal investigators, chasing down hundreds of leads, have found no actual links to anybody.

Despite previous reports, Oswald evidently did not know Ruby and had never been in his club.  Oswald's wife seems to have been generally informant about his activities and particularly about his assassination plot.  When police officers came to ask her, after the shooting, whether her husband had a gun, she said he had, led them to the place where Oswald usually kept his carbine - and gasped, as they did, to find that it was not there and that she had hopelessly incriminated her husband.  …  ... Life: End to Nagging Rumors, Paul Mandel

12/7/63
Floyd Davis, owner of gun range, said three of his customers had told of seeing Oswald practice firing there at three different times.

[Paraphrase] 11/9 or 11/10, noticed by a doctor's son whose name Davis did not know.  Doc's son noticed gun and its sight, recalled after the assassination where he had seen the alleged death weapon before.

11/9 or 11/10, Howard Price, a machinist and gun expert, according to Davis, helped a man fix a sight on a 6.5 weapon, same type as Oswald's.  Price himself refused to talk, saying it was up to the FBI.

11/17, a man named Slack told Davis of a man shooting rapid fire at a target 100 yards away.  This interested Slack, since rapid-fire practice unusual on such ranges.  According to Davis, Slack said someone had handed a rifle wrapped in brown paper over the fence.  This would be noticeable, said Davis, "because you just don't see anyone around here with a rifle wrapped that way."  But he knew of no one else who may have noticed it.

Gavzer notes it is not explained how Oswald could have come to the range alone.  Anyone walking to it would be especially noticed.  Oswald reportedly did not drive.  If someone had brought him, who, asks Gavzer?

FBI refused to comment in Dallas about Davis' report, but were examining pounds of empty shells they had taken from the Davis range.  AP, Bernard Gavzer

12/7/63
Washington - long feature on murder weapon, repeats basic features of the FBI version [focussing on line that a single unaided assassin was involved].  AP, J. W. Davis

12/7/63
Dallas - Back at the Book Depository, manager R. S. Truly began taking inventory of his employees.  Several were missing - outside among the crowd, he supposed.  Still, he went to a policeman and told him Lee Harvey Oswald wasn't there.  He described the 24-year-old clerk.

"Frankly, I don't know why I singled him out," Truly said.  "Perhaps because I had seen him shortly before."  AP, 9:39 p.m. CST, Jules Loh

12/7/63
Dallas - … It was 12:10 p.m.

Jack Ruby walked into the display ad department of the Dallas News and asked for John Newman, who handled his account. Newman wasn't in.  Ruby sat down at his desk to wait. …

It was 1 p.m.

At the Dallas News someone rushed into the display as department with the news.  Jack Ruby scurried into a nearby office where a television set was on.  He heard the bulletin: “President is dead.”  AP, Jules Loh, 9:39 p.m. CST

12/7/63
Early material on Bernard Weissman:

11/30/63
San Francisco Chronicle
12/2/63
San Francisco Chronicle

12/7/63
AP, 950 pes

12/17/63
New York Times, Donald Janson

12/6/63
Gasparovic quotes from Joachim Joesten [Oswald: Assassin or Fall Guy] on several men arrested immediately following JFK assassination.  Joesten quotes Dallas Times Herald [12/8/63] to the effect that one man arrested was booked "along with others" on charges of "investigation of conspiracy to commit murder."  This charge against this man was dropped but he was still in jail 12/7/63.  No indication of what happened to the others arrested.  Newsletter, Assassination Inquiry Committee, Vol. 2, No. 4, p. 3, John Gasparovic [1[?]/64]

12/10/63
Dallas - special to Times, story on Oswald at the Davis rifle range [paraphrase].

Customers recalled that on the first visit 11/9 or 11/10 the man resembling Oswald came alone in a battered automobile, but on the second visit he came with another man - on 11/17.

Story locates Davis range about 1½ miles from Irving, where Oswald family was staying.  Next nearest range was at Carrolton 12 miles away.

Mrs. Paine said late in October or early November she had tried to teach Oswald to drive, but that he did not even learn how to park a car.

Dallas Morning News said this week that police doubt the version of the Walker shooting given by a neighbor boy, Kirk Coleman, 15, who said that after the shooting he ran into the Walker backyard and saw two men flee in two cars.  One of the men carried an object that looked like a rifle, the boy said, and the man, who he said resembled Oswald, thrust the gun into the back seat of his car, a 1958 model, and drove away.  He said the first man, driving a 1950 car, had left a moment before.  No other Walker neighbors told of seeing such, or of witnessing the shooting.  New York Times
12/16/63
... And had he [Oswald] really acted alone?  Only 29 per cent of the American people thought so, according to pollster George Gallup, while 52 per cent thought "some-group or element" shared the blame.  The suspicion was formless.  Few singled out a specific group; despite Oswald's eccentric left politics, only one person in 100 thought Russia, Cuba, or "the Communists" were involved.

Was there one sniper - or two?  Mr. Kennedy was swinging past the textbook warehouse where authorities pined Oswald when the shots were fired - yet one apparently hit the President's throat just below the Adam's apple.  And a St. Louis Post-Dispatch reporter said he saw what looked like a bullet home in the windshield of the Kennedy limousine.  Did that mean a second gunman fired head-on at the car? … Newsweek, p. 26 [On opening of Warren Commission proceedings.]

12/17/63
Washington, [12/16] - For example, it has been theorized that there may have been a second person shooting at Mr. Kennedy in addition to Lee H. Oswald, the alleged assassin.

The FBI has found no evidence that such a second rifleman exists, but it is hard to prove that none did.  The bureau did not address itself to the problem in the report submitted to the commission last week.

… The report takes a firm position against various reports that at least one of the bullets that hit Mr. Kennedy had come from in front of him.

Such a theory would conflict with the fact that Oswald was allegedly firing from a window above and behind the President.

The FBI report said the shots came from that window.  It said Mr. Kennedy was hit by two bullets, one where the right shoulder joins the neck and the other in the right temple.  New York Times, on Warren Commission

12/1963
Frantic actions by Oswald [as reported, following Tippit shooting, and in the Texas Theater] so obvious as to attract the attention of a passerby ... seem inconsistent with Oswald's reported demeanor moments after the President had been shot.  At this time a policeman charged up the stairs of the Book Depository, pointed a gun at him and sought to arrest him for shooting the President.

Oswald's employer described Oswald's condition at that time as "cool as a cucumber although he seemed a little bothered by the gun."  [Washington Post, 12/1], Lane brief, National Guardian
12/21/63
... Three circumstances- the entry wound in the throat, the small, round hole in the windshield of the Presidential limousine, and the number of bullets found afterward - suggested that there had been a second sniper firing from a point in front of the automobile. ...

... Dr. Robert McClelland, one of the three doctors who worked on the throat wound, told me afterward that they a still believed it to be an entry wound, even though the shots were said to have been fired from almost directly behind the President.  …

... A few of us noticed the hold in the windshield when the limousine was standing at the emergency entrance.  ...  I could not approach close enough to see on which wide was the cup-shaped spot that indicates a bullet has pierced the glass from the opposite side.

As for the number of bullets, although all who heard them agreed there were three shots, authorities repeatedly mentioned four bullets found afterward - one found in the floor of the car, a second found in the President's stretcher, a third removed from Governor Connally's left thigh, and a fourth said to have been removed from President Kennedy's body at the Naval Hospital in Bethesda.  On the day to President was shot, I happened to learn of a possible fifth.  A group of police officers were examining the area at the side of the street where the President was hit, and a police inspect; or told me they had just found another bullet in the grass.  He said he did not know whether it had anything to do with the assassination.  …  The New Republic, Commentary of an Eyewitness, Richard Dudman. 1st paragraph.

See Conspiracy, 4/4/64, National Guardian
12/21/63
[Description of viaduct on overpass]

... Railroad police seem to have been assigned responsibility there.  [No trespassing signs] Railroad police chased away an Associated Press photographer who t tried to set up his camera there before the motorcade arrived.  But the precautions apparently were not perfect.  Early reports of the shooting told of a police pursuit of a man and woman seen running on the viaduct.  There was no report they were caught. Regardless, their presence indicates that unauthorized persons had access to that vantage point. ...  The New Republic, Commentary of an Eyewitness, Richard Dudman, p. 2 of typed copy.

12/21/63
The central problem - the fact that the President was wounded in the front of the throat ... remains.  Life and Newsweek place the President's car 170 and 150 feet past the turn at the time of the first shot: a shorter distance than our estimate, but much too distant from the window for a shot through the front of the neck.  Life [12/6] recognizes this problem, but solves it by saying that the President was turning far to the right at the moment of impact [in spite of his brace].  This explanation appears to fail for two reasons.  First, Life’s own pictures of the event in the issue of 11/29 show the President looking straight ahead.  Second, Elm Street curves left as it passes the warehouse building ... in such a way that when the first bullet struck, the President's back was to the window.  In order for a bullet to have entered "the mid-section of the front part of his neck" the President would have had to turn completely around just before the shot was fired.  The New Republic, Seeds of Doubt, Jack Minnis and Staughton Lynd, last paragraph

12/21/63
… A few of us noticed the hole in the windshield when the limousine was standing at the emergency entrance.

… I could not approach close enough to see on which side was the cup-shaped spot that indicates a bullet has pierced the glass from the opposite side.

… As for the number of bullets, although all who heard them agreed there were three shots, authorities repeatedly mentioned four bullets found afterward one found in the floor of the car, a second found in the President's stretcher, a third removed from Governor Connally's left thigh, and a fourth said to have been removed from President Kennedy's body at the Naval Hospital in Bethesda.  On the day the President was shot, I happened to learn of a possible fifth.  A group of police officers were examining the area at the side of the street where the President was hit, and a police inspector told me they had just found another bullet in the grass. he said he did not know whether it had anything to do with the assassination. The New Republic, Commentary of an Eyewitness, Richard Dudman

See Conspiracy, 4/4/64. National Guardian Warren Commission file, 3/9/64 - AP 124 pcs

12/23/63
For some time I have been disturbed by the way CIA has been diverted from its original [intelligence] assignment.  It has become an operational and at times a policy making arm of the Government.  This has led to trouble and may have compounded our difficulties in several explosive areas.  …  I, therefore, would like to see the CIA be restored to its original assignment as the intelligence arm of the President  ... and that its operational duties be terminated or properly used elsewhere.

We have grown up as a nation, respected for our free institutions and for our ability to maintain a free and open society.  There is something about the way the CIA has been functioning that is casting a shadow over our historic position and I feel that we need to correct it.  Washington Post, From copyrighted article by Harry S. Truman, entitled U.S. Should Hold CIA To Intelligence Role
[The above is included in this section only because of the date.  Nowhere in his article does Truman suggest the CIA had any part in the assassination.]  

12/23/63
And the stories of a windshield bullet hole in the Kennedy limousine?  The FBI didn't mention it, but other sources said it was fractured - not punctured - from inside, probably by a ricocheting fragment.  Newsweek, Report From the FBI, p. 19

12/23/63
Lost Words: Yet it did contain some disappointments for Justice Department officials who screened it before passing it on to the commission - not in what it said but in what it leaves unsaid.  …  For senior Justice hands and for top FBI officials as well - the report leaves too many questions unasked or unanswered beyond the recurring phrase, "There is no evidence."  … "But if that FBI report came out now, as it is," one administration official told Newsweek's Jay Iselin, "the press would raise the roof at the things left unanswered."  Newsweek, Report from the FBI, p. 19

12/23/63
Was a second rifleman in the window at the Texas School Book Depository?  The report doesn't take up the question. Newsweek, Report From the FBI, p. 19

12/28/63
Dallas physicians who treated President Kennedy's throat wound have reversed themselves, calling it an exit instead of an entry wound as they first had said.

Their revised opinion brings them into line with the report of an autopsy made at the United States Naval Hospital at Bethesda, MD., and the FBI's report on the assassination, now in the hands of the special Commission headed by Chief Justice Warren.  Neither document has been made public, but both have been widely leaked to quell suspicions that Lee Harvey Oswald may not have been the only sniper who fired at the President.  The New Republic, Where the Shots Came From

12/30/63
... A conspiracy ?  … One theory was that the Red Chinese, working with Castro, plotted the murder as a way to discredit Soviet Russia's Khrushchev.

Officials insist there is not a shred of truth in this line of reasoning.  Mexican police, co-operating fully with the U.S., went all out in the their investigation of Oswald and found no connection between him and Cuban or Russian groups in their land.

The Soviet Government, in a rare move, turned over the files it had kept on Oswald.  The files showed that the Russians considered him an unstable individual.  …  U.S. News & World Report, As Warren Inquiry Starts-Latest on the Assassination, p. 28

12/30/63
… One of the latest reports to gain wide circulation is that four shots, not three, were fired.

This report is based on eyewitness accounts of what seemed to be a bullet hole in the windshield of the car ... suggesting that a fourth bullet was fired …

A report out of Detroit, where the presidential car was sent to be armor-plated, mentions also "what appears to be a bullet hole in the floor pan of the car."

… The second shot struck Governor Connally and fragmented.  Bullets hitting bone can splinter.  
A splinter from that bullet apparently hit the windshield of the car.  Another splinter could have penetrated the floor pan.  The third bullet [which] struck President Kennedy in the back of the head
also fragmented somewhat.

It seems clear that the bullet splinters provided the basis for rumors of more than three shots.  U.S. News & World Report, As Warren Inquiry Starts-Latest on the Assassination, p. 28
















